1949

# James Sdrales and Virginia Zambukos v. Sam Rondos : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

In the  
**SUPREME COURT**  
of the  
**STATE OF UTAH**

---

JAMES SDRALES and  
VIRGINIA ZAMBOUKOS,  
*Plaintiffs and Respondents,*

vs.

SAM RONDOS,  
*Defendant and Appellant.*

Case No.  
80031

---

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT

---

STATEMENT

This is an action commenced by the plaintiffs to enjoin the defendant from trespassing upon lands claimed by the plaintiffs. Defendant counterclaimed and asked to have the Court determine that the defendant had acquired a right by prescription to a 12-foot strip ex-

tending from West Temple on the West, thence East 165 feet to defendant's property. The defendant prosecutes this appeal from the judgment of the lower court enjoining defendant from using the right-of-way and denying defendant's counterclaim.

This action involves property in down-town Salt Lake City, located on the south side of Second South and immediately to the east of West Temple Street. The Plaza Hotel is located on the southeast corner of the intersection of Second South and West Temple, and east of this hotel are small shops, cafes, beer parlors, restaurants, cleaning establishments, etc., extending east to defendant's property. The property of the defendant is located at 63-65 West Second South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, and has a frontage of 40 feet on Second South and extends southerly seven rods from the property line of Second South Street.

The west line of defendant's property is 125 feet east of the property line of West Temple Street. Adjoining the Plaza Hotel on the south is a 12-foot right-of-way which extends east from its entrance on West Temple Street to defendant's property, and along the north side of which there are entrances to the various stores, shops and buildings of the occupants of the buildings fronting on Second South. At a point 75 feet east from West Temple the alleyway widens by 26 feet and affords access to buildings fronting on West Temple and Third South, as well as those fronting on Second South. This alleyway has been and is used by various property owners and tradesmen in making deliveries.

The building of the defendant is a two-story brick building erected in 1891. In 1893 a heating plant was erected on the premises which consisted of a large chimney approximately 40 feet high, being an iron stack fixed to a cement base, which cement base extends approximately eight or nine feet above the ground; there is an excavated pit with cement side wall approximately eight feet in depth, containing the coal bin and furnace, with boiler and stoker. The south cement wall of the furnace room is approximately on the south property line of defendant's property.

The evidence in this case showing the use by the defendant and appellant of this right-of-way is not controverted in any manner whatsoever by plaintiffs, and the only evidence introduced as to the use of the right-of-way is that of defendant. This evidence consists of the testimony of two very elderly witnesses called by defendant, one Richard H. Latimer, a co-owner of one-eleventh interest, and who collected rents for the estate for some fifty years, and the other Anton F. Gotberg, a retired tailor, who had occupied the premises since 1890. The evidence of these witnesses is supported by Exhibits 3, 4, 5 and 6, being pictures of the right-of-way. These witnesses testified that the right-of-way had been used for well over forty years by the occupants and tenants of defendant's property in making deliveries of coal, merchandise, materials required for the repair of the building and generally as a means of access for pedestrian and vehicular traffic. This evidence was not controverted in any manner whatsoever by plaintiffs. There is

no dispute whatsoever on the facts of the use of the property and right-of-way by the predecessors in interest of defendant and their tenants and occupants.

Mr. Latimer testified that his father had owned this property as original patentee, and possessed it until his death in 1881. Mr. Latimer made all collections of rent for the family, and started such collecting in 1888. The Latimer family took over the building now located on the premises in 1891.

The coal bin described aforesaid as a part of the heating plant had a capacity of five tons (Tr. 75). At page 76 of the transcript Mr. Latimer testified that from the time he took it over, and practically all of the time, he furnished the heat for the building, and for this purpose he purchased the coal which was brought in by trucks and wagon though the alleyway claimed by defendant. He described the alleyway and right-of-way used in bringing the coal in as the 12-foot right-of-way claimed by defendant, and extending from West Temple east to the heating plant.

At page 76 of the transcript Mr. Latimer also testified that these deliveries of coal would be from one to three loads per month, and this fact is also confirmed by Mr. Gotberg. The course of this right-of-way was marked by the red line appearing on plaintiff's Exhibit A, which likewise appears at Page 82 of the transcript in the testimony of Mr. Latimer.

At Pages 84-85 of the transcript appears the testimony of Mr. Latimer where he states that the materials

for repairing the roof and building were brought in over this same right-of-way and the alleyway for mixing mortar to be used in repairing the building, etc.

In addition to the delivery of coal to the furnace coal bin, Mr. Gotberg, at Pages 98-100 of the transcript, testified that deliveries of coal were also made to the location of the tailor shop occupying the west half of the building for use in the heating and operation of the shop. Mr. Gotberg, at Page 102 of the transcript, further testified that the alleyway was used in making deliveries of merchandise and groceries for a period of twenty-five years to the occupants of defendant's property. Mr. Gotberg confirmed the testimony of Mr. Latimer to the effect that deliveries were made by way of this alleyway; that he observed such deliveries. Mr. Latimer testified that the repairs to the building would occur in the replacement of a new roof at least every ten years, and other construction, such as the erection of a brick addition on the southwest corner of defendant's property, which was accomplished by the use of this right-of-way.

At Page 101 of the transcript, Mr. Gotberg stated that for a period of time the upper floors of the building were advertised as a roominghouse, but that most of the upper floors were used for illegal business; that one of these "ladies" occupied the place for twenty-five years, and that their groceries and merchandise were brought to them through the rear entrance and by way of this alleyway. Mr. Gotberg identified one of these "ladies" as "Babe," and recalls that the grocery man drove to the

back of the shop and took the groceries up to her. At Page 105 of the transcript Mr. Gotberg recalls vividly the traffic that came to the rear entrance of the property, because he saw the girls jumping the fence at the rear without any clothes on, inasmuch as his "eyes were not so bad then."

At Page 107 of the transcript, Mr. Mulliner asked the witness Gotberg on cross-examination:

"Have you ever seen a coal truck actually come in there, back into the boiler plant?"

A. Oh, yes, I seen that quite often, because after they had the garage building right here, right there on that corner, they had such a hard time to get in with coal, so they sometimes had to carry it and sometimes had to have an extremely long chute to shoot it down, if they could get the wagon close enough it was easy to get it into the hole because the hole is in the ceiling of it. The machine shop is built on the top of the ground."

The property claimed by plaintiffs did not at any time, from the issuance of patent until the conveyance to the plaintiffs subsequent to 1939, exist in any one person. The right-of-way crossed at all times property the title to which was in various individuals. In other words, the right-of-way never arose by reason of retention by any one owner for his own purpose. The evidence shows that Second South from defendant's corner west to West Temple and east to the Kearns Garage alley is lined solid with buildings, and the only access to the property of defendant, and particularly for the making

of deliveries of coal, etc., had been for many years over the course of this right-of-way, as claimed and described by defendant's witnesses, and as appeared in the pictures. Any person, upon viewing this property, could readily see the maner in which the delivery of coal and other supplies would be made to defendant's property by following this right-of-way as claimed by defendant.

In connection with plaintiff's motion to strike from the Bill of Particulars all of the material appearing at Pages 140 to and including 145 of the transcript, defendant desires to set forth the following facts:

Defendant's counsel having presented a stipulation and order for the settlement of the Bill of Exceptions in this case in accordance with the transcribed record of the reporter, being Pages 1 to 139 of the transcript, and plaintiffs' counsel having refused to sign the stipulation, counsel for plaintiffs and defendant appeared before Judge Van Cott on December 18, 1948, for the purpose of having the Bill of Exception settled. No written objections had been filed by plaintiffs to the proposed Bill of Exceptions, but under the stipulation as it appears on Page 141, Mr. Mulliner was permitted to make oral objections to the proposed bill. Objection was made by Mr. Mulliner that as a part of the cross-examination of the witness Latimer he stated that he did not make claim to a right-of-way to Mr. Ball or to plaintiffs or their predecessor in title, and suggestion was made that this testimony should be added to the transcript.

At Page 142 of the transcript the exact testimony as claimed by Mr. Mulliner was stated by him to be that the witness Latimer was asked "whether it had been discussed and whether he was on friendly terms with the plaintiff and his predecessor in title," and the last statement he made was to the effect that he had not claimed a right-of-way so far as plaintiff or his predecessors in title were concerned. At that page (142) of the transcript, Judge Van Cott says that in his best judgment and recollection Latimer made the statement "that he at no time made any claim to a right-of-way, the one in question."

As will appear from the transcript, this trial took place November 28, 1947. This matter was presented to Judge Van Cott December 18, 1948, some thirteen months subsequent to the time the witness Latimer testified. Such testimony does not appear any place in the notes of the trial prepared by Judge Van Cott, but there does appear in Judge Van Cott's notes, in his handwriting, and in the testimony of Latimer, the following words: "Never discussed the right-of-way with anyone."

It definitely appears at Page 90 of the transcript in the testimony of Latimer on cross-examination, and at the end of his examination, and in accordance with the notes of Judge Van Cott, that Latimer never had any discussion with any of the owners of plaintiffs' property concerning the right-of-way.

Mr. Rasmussen, the court reporter, at Page 142 of the transcript, states that the witness Latimer was not

a flighty witness but spoke slowly, and Mr. Rasmussen felt that he was able to report accurately all that the witness said. The certificate of Mr. Rasmussen at Page 139 is to the effect that he caused the shorthand notes of the testimony to be transcribed, and that the pages numbered from 1 to 138 constitute a full, true and correct transcript of the shorthand notes taken at the trial of the action and a full, true and correct report of the evidence, testimony and other proceedings had and given in said cause on said dates.

### PETITION

Comes now the defendant and appellant and petitions this Honorable Court to strike from the Bill of Exceptions all of the testimony and proceeding appearing in Pages 140 to 145 of the transcript, together with the attached notes of Judge Van Cott, and that this Honorable Court settle as the Bill of Exceptions in this case the transcript of the evidence, consisting of Pages 1 to 139, together with the exhibits offered in the case, together with the judgment roll. This petition is made upon the files and record in this matter now before the Supreme Court, and for the reason that Judge Van Cott acted without and in excess of his jurisdiction in settling the Bill of Exceptions and adding purported testimony contrary to and not supported by the notes of the reporter Clyde Rasmussen. This petition is made pursuant to Section 104-39-7, U.C.A., 1943.

### SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

1. The Court erred in considering as evidence in

this case purported testimony of Richard C. Latimer, as indicated at Page 142 of the transcript, for and upon the reason that notes of the reporter clearly indicate that no such evidence was ever introduced in the case, and that the Court acted in excess of its jurisdiction and authority in considering such evidence.

2. The Court erred in the order settling the Bill of Exceptions, wherein the Court has attempted to add to the reported and transcribed notes of the court reporter, purported testimony of Richard Latimer, and including in the record the Pages 140-145 of the transcript, as contrary to law and fact, and in excess of the jurisdiction of the Court.

3. The Court erred in its third Finding of Fact, in this, that it was found that plaintiffs are now, and that they and their predecessors in interest have for many years been, the owners and entitled to the possession of all of the lands claimed by plaintiffs in their complaint, for and upon the reason that said finding is contrary to law and to the evidence.

4. The Court erred in its fourth Finding of Fact, wherein it excluded from the finding, which shows the property owned by the defendant, the right-of-way claimed by defendant in defendant's counterclaim, for the reason that the failure to include the right-of-way in this Fourth Finding is contrary to law and to the evidence.

5. The Court erred in its sixth Finding of Fact in this: That it found defendant had not used the south-

erly portion of plaintiff's property openly, notoriously and continuously under a claim of right or adversely to plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest for a period of twenty years immediately preceding the filing of this action, or any twenty-year period thereof, which finding is contrary to the law and the evidence.

6. The Court erred in its seventh Finding of Fact in this: That it found that the defendant had no right, title or interest to all or any part of the real estate under consideration belonging to the plaintiffs by way of easement or at all, which finding is contrary to the law and the evidence.

7. The Court erred in its Conclusions of Law, and particularly the second Conclusion, for the reason that the same is contrary to the law and is contrary to the evidence.

8. The Court erred in its third Conclusion in that said Conclusion is contrary to law and is contrary to and not supported by the facts.

9. The Court erred in its judgment, and particularly Paragraph 2 thereof, in determining that the defendant take nothing by reason of the counterclaim, for the reason that said judgment is contrary to evidence in the case and is not supported by the Findings or Conclusions of the Court.

10. The Court erred in entering its judgment, and particularly Paragraph 3 thereof, for the reason that said decree is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence, findings or conclusions.

11. The Court erred in entering its judgment, and particularly Paragraph 5 thereof, in that said judgment is not supported by the Findings of Fact or Conclusions and is contrary to the evidence and law of the case.

12. The Court erred in entering its judgment, and particularly Paragraph 6 thereof, restraining defendant from the use of the right-of-way, for and upon the reason that said judgment is not supported by the evidence, Findings or Conclusions, and is contrary to law.

13. The Court erred in entering judgment for costs in the sum of \$13.20 for the reason that the judgment for costs is not supported by the evidence and is contrary to law.

14. The Court erred in refusing to grant the motion of the defendant for a new trial, particularly upon the grounds specified in said motion to the effect that the judgment is contrary to the evidence and is against law.

## ARGUMENT

The Specifications of Error have been grouped under the following headings and will be consolidated for the convenience of counsel and court in the headings as they appear in the argument.

### I.

THE COURT ERRED IN ATTEMPTING TO INSERT IN THE BILL OF EXCEPTIONS THE PURPORTED TESTIMONY OF ONE OF THE WITNESSES CONTRARY TO THE TRANSCRIBED NOTES OF THE REPORTER.

Under this heading we are submitting our argument in behalf of the petition to strike from the Bill of

Exceptions the purported testimony of the witness Latimer as to whether he did or did not claim the right-of-way. We feel that in addition to our petition as a matter of law, Judge Van Cott committed error in making this a part of the Bill of Exception, for he has thereby inserted into the record purported testimony of the witness Latimer which was never given, and evidently considered evidence in making his decision which was never introduced and which was never a part of this case.

First and above all, we want to state that we can at no time determine as a mental process all of the inferences or determinations which Judge Van Cott in his mind attempted to make from such purported evidence. He stated to us in testimony which does not appear in the notes at the time the Bill was being settled that he had in his own mind placed great emphasis in making his decision as to the right-of-way upon the fact that Latimer had nor claimed such a right-of-way.

Mr. Rasmussen's notes, at Page 90, which coincide with the notes kept by Judge Van Cott, are to the effect that Latimer never discussed the right-of-way with any person. The fact remains that the testimony and record in this case shows that the property had originally come to the father of the witness Latimer. The record further shows that for a period of forty years or more, Latimer had only a one-eleventh interest in this property, and that he collected the rent and purchased the coal for furnishing heat to the premises.

Assuming, therefore, for the purpose of argument,

that Latimer had never orally made a claim to the right-of-way to any of the predecessors in interest of plaintiffs, the only emphasis that could be placed upon this is that Latimer, an owner of one-eleventh interest, has never said anything to anyone about the right-of-way by way of claiming it. In other words, Latimer's purported testimony is that he had never discussed the right-of-way with anyone.

So, consistent with this must be the fact that he never made any statement of any kind about it, so that any testimony of Latimer, as aided or interpreted by Judge Van Cott, would be a reflection of a mental process of Latimer and not a vocal or physical one. If Judge Van Cott, therefore, was to give any emphasis and, as he said, base his judgment upon the mental process of a one-eleventh owner of the property, then we submit that there is no more clear indication of the error that Judge Van Cott fell into, because, as we will show further on, there is no necessity or requirement that the party claiming this prescriptive right must vocally proclaim his intentions to the other party or to the world, and that his use of the right-of-way, or the use of the right-of-way by his tenants for a prescriptive period, is sufficient to establish his right. Judge Van Cott has clearly disregarded that law if he gave any weight or emphasis (which he indicated he did) to this purported testimony of the witness Latimer.

We cannot help but feel that this matter goes beyond this for a judge, thirteen months after a trial, inserts as

purported evidence statements of a witness which do not appear in the transcribed notes but which would also be contrary to the whole tenor of the witness' testimony and to his actual statement as appears herein. In this case there was no evidence introduced by the plaintiffs as to the use of this right-of-way, and the evidence of the defendant is clear and conclusive that the right-of-way had been used for a period greatly in excess of forty year, and for Judge Van Cott to make his judgment, as he did, contrary to that evidence, it appears to us he was attempting to find some fact which would support his conclusion contrary to the evidence, as he appears to have selected what he thought the witness testified to, rather than the actual testimony of the witness, to destroy the effect of that evidence.

In other words, Latimer and Gotberg shared the use of the right-of-way for over forty years, and the only way that Judge Van Cott could have ignored all of that testimony, which was uncontroverted in every respect, was to attempt to find some flaw, which he attempted to do in basing his decision upon the mental process of Latimer. Certainly, any purported mental process of this one-eleventh owner, Richard Latimer, will not vary many times the opinion of this Court that an open and continuous use for a period of twenty years established the prescriptive right, nor can it be effective to any other owner, or the other ten-elevenths interest in the property.

The petition to strike from the bill and to have the Supreme Court settle the bill, as heretofore mentioned,

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