1949

James Sdrales and Virginia Zambukos v. Sam Rondos : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

sumption changes.' (Emphasis supplied.)''

* * * * *

“From his testimony, it will be noted that plaintiff used the way and claimed a right to use it but it does not appear that any such claim was ever made to the defendant or to his grantor prior to the building of the fence.”

Mr. Latimer testified that he had never seen coal delivered, and had never made a claim to a right-of-way here involved. Mr. Gotberg, as indicated in appellant's brief on page 21, testified that he had seen a coal truck come over the purported right-of-way “quite often.” No case has ever held that a right-of-way could be established on such testimony.

Appellant here tries to sustain the position that his use of the premises was “notorious” and “continuous,” yet Mr. Latimer, the owner for most of the period, has never seen a coal truck come in on the right-of-way, which is an instance of the claimed use.

If the appellant is to prevail in this case, the court, upon its own motion, will be required to define the physical limits of a right-of-way, and to establish, with certainty, the use to which such right-of-way can be put by appellant. And, this use must include what type of vehicle can use such right-of-way, and on what occasions, in order that respondents can restrict any excessive use over that so established.

It is submitted that no evidence on either of the above propositions is contained in this record on appeal.

III

NO PRESUMPTION IN FAVOR OF A PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT ARISES, BECAUSE THE UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE IS THAT THE LAND SOUGHT TO BE SUBJECTED BY APPELLANT TO A PRESCRIPTIVE RIGHT, WAS USED IN COMMON WITH RESPONDENTS.

The land owned by appellant and respondents was never in a common grantor, so no question of implied or reserved easement is involved in this case at all. Nor is there any question of an easement arising from necessity.

Respondents, in pointing out that the rear of appellant's premises was accessible from other direction, did so only to show that there was no use of the particular ground, as claimed by appellant.

The evidence, on behalf of all parties, shows conclusively that the rear area-way was used by a number of people, and, perhaps, by the public. The 12 x 165 foot area, claimed by appellant in his brief as a right-of-way, extends from West Temple Street in a straight line to respondents' garages, and these garages, it is undisputed, were continually in use, as was the 12-foot extension of the alley-way.

An examination of respondents' Exhibit "A" clearly shows the relative position of the respondents' garages and the South property line of appellant's land. Any use of these garages requires traffic over the strip claimed by appellant as a right-of-way.

From this exhibit, it can be seen that any use of this

area-way by respondents, in servicing the rear of their buildings, necessarily requires the use of the greater portion of the right-of-way now claimed by appellant.

These facts stand undisputed, as does the fact that the area-way was used by respondents, and their predecessors in title. Therefore, if there was any use of this area by appellant, or his predecessors, it was in common with owners of respondents' premises. This factual situation is the decisive feature of this case.

Assuming appellant had proved a sufficient use of the premises, his right to an easement depends entirely on favorable presumptions of law with regard to all the necessary elements, because there exists no express grant of this estate to him. However, no such presumptions arise under the facts in this case, because the land sought to be impressed with an easement was used in common with the owner.

The law is well-established that, when one constructs, maintains, or uses a right-of-way on his own land, and his neighbor, or some adjacent property owner, uses the same area, that no presumption of adverse use arises, but that a presumption of permissive use arises. A permissive use, for no matter how long, cannot ripen into an easement.

This doctrine has been maintained by this court since the case of *Harkness v. Woodmansee*, 7 Utah 227, 26 P. 291, where the court stated the rule to be:

“Where a person opens a way for the use of his own premises, and another person uses it also without causing damage, the presumption is, in

the absence of evidence to the contrary, that such use by the latter was permissive, and not under a claim of right. Washb. Easem. 151.”

This rule was re-affirmed in *Jensen v. Gerrard*, 85 Utah 481, 39 P. (2) 1070, where the court says:

“A twenty-year use alone of a way is not sufficient to establish an easement. Mere use of a roadway opened by a landowner for his own purposes will be presumed permissive. An antagonistic or adverse use of a way cannot spring from a permissive use. A prescriptive title must be acquired adversely. It cannot be adverse when it rests upon a license or mere neighborly accommodation. Adverse user is the antithesis of permissive user. If the use is accompanied by any recognition in express terms or by implication of a right in the landowner to stop such use now or at some time in the future, the use is not adverse.”

In the recent case of *Zollinger v. Frank*, 110 Utah 514, 175 P. (2) 714, cited by appellant, the rule is recognized in the following language:

“It is contended that the road and the gate in the fence at the west terminus of the road were opened for and used by the landowner and that Zollinger’s use of the road did not injure the land and did not interfere with the landowner’s use of same and therefore his use was permissive and under the landowner. In the early case of *Harkness v. Woodmansee*, 7 Utah 227, 26 P. 291, 293, this court recognized the principle as follows: ‘Where a person opens a way for the use of his own premises, and another person uses it also without causing damage, the presumption is, in

the absence of evidence to the contrary, that such use by the latter was permissive, and not under claim of right'."

The question is annotated in 170 A.L.R. page 825, where the rule is stated as follows:

"Where the way in question is shown to have been opened or maintained by the owner of the soil for his own benefit, and the claimant's use of it appears to have been merely in common with him, no presumption arises that the latter's use of it was adverse or under a claim of right. In the absence of additional circumstances pertaining to the origin or nature of the claimant's use, and expressing a purpose to impose a separate servitude upon the land, the use is presumed to be permissive only."

Numerous cases are cited in this note.

In 19 C. J. at page 898, the rule is stated thus:

"Section 75. USE BY OWNER FOR HIS OWN PURPOSES. Where a landowner opens up a way on his own land for his own use and convenience, the mere use thereof by another, under circumstances which do not injure the road nor interfere with the owner's use of it, will not in the absence of circumstances indicating a claim of right be considered as adverse, and will not ripen into a prescriptive right no matter how long continued. *Where a space is left open by the owner for his own convenience the presumption ordinarily is that the use of such space by another, even for his own purpose, is permissive.* Nevertheless, it has been held that the mere fact that a way has been established by the owner of the land for his own use does not of itself prevent a user of the way by another from becoming ad-

verse. But in order to acquire this character knowledge must be brought home to the owner of the land that the user is claimed as of right. The requirement is not satisfied by keeping the road in repair for the use of both parties, or by constructing and maintaining bridges on it. And it has been held that the fact that a tenant of one claiming an easement in a right of way by adverse user had complained, on one occasion, that poles which had been piled on the way obstructed it, and that the agent of the owner removed the same, was not evidence of an assertion of right to use the way sufficient to ripen into title by adverse user.”

The texts cited above are amply supported in many recent decisions, among which are the following:

Smith v Skrbek, 162 P. (2) 674, (California 1945). The evidence in this case was that the defendant constructed the road for his own use, and that, thereafter, plaintiff used it with defendant, as a common means of access. When this condition exists, the court, quoting *Jensen v. Gerrard*, 39 P. (2) 1070, (Utah), said:

“It is a reasonable presumption that since the roadway was constructed by the defendants’ predecessor in title, upon his own land, for his personal benefit, as a means of access from the public highway to his dwelling house and farm buildings, that the plaintiff’s use of the road was merely perimssive, as a neighborly convenience. *Jensen v. Gerrard*, 85 Utah 481, 39 P. 2d 1070; 28 C.J.S., Easements, p. 668, sec. 18(2). In the text last cited it is said: ‘Where a landowner opens up a way on his own land for his own use and convenience, the mere use thereof by another, under circumstances which do not injure the road

nor interfere with the owner's use of it, will not in the absence of circumstances indicating a claim of right be considered as adverse, and will not ripen into a prescriptive right no matter how long continued.'

"In this case there is no evidence that the plaintiff or her predecessor in title helped to construct or keep in repair the roadway over defendants' land. No actual notice of her claim of prescriptive right to travel the road was ever given. Although the defendants talked with her about their title to the land before they purchased the ranch in November, 1941, and again while they were changing the course of the road in August, 1942, she failed to mention her claim to a right to use the road. Plaintiff's occasional use of the road for a short distance of less than a hundred feet from the highway to her garage and gate did not interfere in the least with defendant's use thereof."

The later California case of *Dooling v. Dabel*, 186 P. (2) 183, (California 1947), affirms this rule in the following language:

" 'It is a reasonable presumption that since the roadway was constructed by the defendants' predecessor in title, upon his own land, for his personal benefit, as means of access from the public highway to his dwelling house and farm buildings, that the plaintiff's use of the road was merely permissive, as a neighborly convenience. *Jensen v. Gerrard*, 85 Utah 481, 39 P. 2d 1070; 28 C.J.S., Easements, p. 668, sec. 18(2). In the text last cited it is said:

" 'Where a landowner opens up a way on his own land for his own use and convenience, the

mere use thereof by another, under circumstances which do not injure the road nor interfere with the owner's use of it, will not in the absence of circumstances indicating a claim of right be considered as adverse, and will not ripen into a prescriptive right no matter how long continued'.

The preceding declaration of laws appears to fit the facts of this case.

In *LaRue v. Kosich*, 187 P. (2) 642, (Arizona 1947), the evidence was to the effect that the persons seeking the easement, used the premises together with the owners and others. The court held permission of the owner was conclusively presumed, in the following language:

"It is a recognized rule of law that where the use of a private way by a neighbor is by the express or implied permission of the owner, the continued use is not adverse and cannot ripen into a prescriptive right. *Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. v. Crockett, etc., Co.*, 70 Cal. App. 283, 233 P. 370; *May Bernard*, 40 Cal. App. 364, 180 P. 827; *Irvin v. Petitfils*, 44 Cal. App. 2d 496, 112 P. 2d 688. The law raises no presumption that the use is under a claim of right. 28 C.J.S., Easements, sec. 18(i); *Boullioun v. Constantine*, 186 Ark. 625, 54 S.W. 2d 986; *Schudel v. Hertz*, 125 Cal. App. 564, 13 P. 2d 1008, 1186.

"Under a heading, 'Way by prescription when use is permissive only,' it is said in 2 Thompson on Real Property (Perm. Ed.) sec. 521: 'The modern tendency is to restrict the right of one to acquire a prescriptive right of way whereby another, through a mere neighborly act, may be deprived of his property by its becoming vested in the one whom he favored. * * * * '

“It is said in *Howard v. Wright*, 38 Nev. 25, 143 P. 1184, 1188:

‘A right of way by prescription can only be acquired by a user which is neither expressly nor impliedly licensed or permissive. It must be adverse and hostile to the owner of the servient estate, and must be under a claim of right so expressed as to charge the owner of the servient estate with knowledge thereof.

* * * *

‘Nothing less than an adverse user, under claim of legal right, will perfect an easement by occupancy for the statutory time. A use acquired merely by consent, permission, or indulgence of the owner of the servient estate, can never ripen into a prescriptive right, unless the user of the dominant estate expressly abandons and denies his right under license or permission, and openly declares his right to be adverse to the owner of the servient estate. *Hurt v. Adams*, 86 Mo. App. 73.

* * * *

‘*The rule that precludes a permissive use from ripening into a right to continued enjoyment, where the permission, consent, or license is expressly given is no less effective where the permission or license may be implied. Thomas v. England*, 71 Cal. 456, 12 P. 491.’ (Emphasis supplied.)

“The evidence presented in the case at bar conclusively shows that the plaintiff, together with the general public, had enjoyed implied permissive use of the roadway through the neighborly indulgence of its owner and his predecessors in

interest. And, a use that has its inception in the permission of the owner will continue as such until a distinct and positive assertion of a right hostile to the owner is brought home to him by words or acts. *Omodt v. Chicago, M. & St. P. Ry. Co.*, 106 Minn. 205, 118 N.W. 798; *Clarke v. Clarke*, 133 Cal. 667, 66 P. 10; *Howard v. Wright*, 38 Nev. 25, 143 P. 1184; *Brandon v. Umpqua Lbr. & Timber Co.*, 26 Cal. App. 96, 146 P. 46; *Scheller v. Pierce County*, 55 Wash. 298, 104 P. 277; *Pitzman v. Boyce*, 111 Mo. 387, 19 S.W. 1104, 33 Am. St. Rep. 536; *Smith v. Oliver*, 189 Ky. 214, 224 S.W. 683; *Smith v. Fairfax*, 180 Ky. 12, 201 S.W. 454; *Flagg v. Phillips*, 201 Mass. 216, 87 N.E. 598; *Holm v. Davis*, 41 Utah 200, 125 P. 403, 44 L.R.A., N.S., 89; *Naporra v. Weckwerth*, 178 Minn. 203, 226 N.W. 569, 65 A.L.R. 124; *Johnson v. Olson*, 189 Minn. 183, 248 N.W. 700; *Reider v. Orme*, 17 Tenn. App. 497, 68 S.W. 2d 960.”

The Supreme Court of Montana, in *White v. Kamps*, 171 P. (2) 343, (Montana 1946), affirms this rule, and propounds the sound reasoning underlying it, in the following language:

“In *Scheller v. Pierce County*, 55 Wash. 298, 104 P. 277, 278, it was said, in quoting from Jones on Easements, section 282:

“‘If the use of a way over one’s land is shown to be permissive only, no right to use it is conferred, though the use may have continued for a century or any length of time. ‘A different doctrine would have the tendency to destroy all neighborhood accommodation in the way of travel; for if it were once understood that a man, by allowing his neighbor to pass through his farm without

objection, over the pass way which he used himself, would thereby, after the lapse of 20 or 30 years, confer a right on him to require the passageway to be kept open for his benefit and enjoyment, a prohibition against all such travel would immediately ensue. To create the presumption of a grant of a right of way, the circumstances attending its use must be such as to make it appear that it was established for the benefit of the claimant, or that its use was accompanied by a claim of right, or by such acts as manifested an intention to enjoy it, without regard to the wishes of the owner of the land. The use must have been enjoyed under such circumstances as will indicate that it has been claimed as a right, and has not been regarded by the parties merely as a privilege, revocable at the pleasure of the owner of the soil.' ” Jones on Easements, Sec. 282.’

“The record here shows that the road in question was used by the respondent and his predecessors in interest for their own purposes in farming the land involved. Under such circumstances the general rule is that the use of the road by another will generally be regarded as permissive where such use does not injure or interfere with the owner’s use. In 28 C.J.S., Easements, Sec. 18, p. 668, the rule is stated thus:

‘Where a landowner opens up a way on his own land for his own use and convenience, the mere use thereof by another, under circumstances which do not injure the road nor interfere with the owner’s use of it, will not in the absence of circumstances indicating a claim of right be considered as adverse,

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